


 

 

Your Credit Union at a Glance 

 

Ever since Charter Number 115 was granted over 80 years ago, the Edam Credit Union has 
provided financial services to the community of Edam and surrounding area.  We are a 
democratic organization and with membership comes the right to vote – one member, one vote 
in keeping with our co-operative structure.  Each year at the Annual General Meeting, members 
elect directors to govern their credit union and represent their interests. 
 

As our community evolves, so do the demographics of our credit union.  In 2024 we welcomed 
82 new members and closed 42 memberships for a new membership increase of 40.   

 

BOARD of DIRECTORS 
 

Responsibility:  As a member of the board, a director is in a position of trust to ultimately ensure 
that the credit union is managed and operated in a sound and prudent manner. 
 

Purpose of Position:  As a member of the board, a director acts to establish meaningful 
strategic direction for the credit union that effectively serves the membership’s interests while 
promoting long-term growth and financial stability. 

 

              Elected  Term Expires 

John Grant      2016    2025 

Blair St Amant      2019    2025 

Shawn Blais      2019    2025 

Darcy de Montarnal     2017    2026 

Ryan Roach (President)    2017    2026 

Cheri Frey      2023    2026 

Heidi Potter Jamieson (Vice President) 2018    2027 

Jodie Poole      2024    2027 

Taylor Baillargeon      2023    2027 

 

 

ASSETS ……………………………………………………………… $85,519,812 

GROWTH ……………………………………………………………... $6,629,526 

LOANS ………………………………………………………..……… $49,258,661 

DEPOSITS ……………………………………………………….….. $75,317,584 

MEMBERS …………………………………………………………………… 1187 

NON-MEMBERS ……………………………………………………………...… 6 
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 Who We Are ……. 

Real People Providing Real Service 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Staff of the Edam Credit Union (Left - Right) 

 

Back Row: 

Jan Olson, MSR, 2025 
Deanne Carmody, Loans Officer, 2021 
Hannah Tataryn, Loans Officer, 2021 
Lisa Pelchat, Manager of Finance and Compliance, 2008 
Kevin Blanchette, Loans Clerk, 2024 

 

Front Row: 

Shelly Curry, MSR, 2023              
Wanda Mosimann, General Manager, 2002 
Glenda Weber, Office Manager, 2002  
Melodie Nedelec, Senior MSR, 2011  
 

Missing from Photo: 

Leah Mahan, MSR, 2024              
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What We Believe ……. 
 

OUR VISION 

To provide members with excellent member service 

OUR MISSION 

 To provide financial products and services that are delivered with the highest standard of 
excellence, integrity, and professionalism 

 
 To remain a viable, member controlled financial institution dedicated to co-operative 

principles responsive to the social and economic needs of our members 
 
 To develop the credit union and its services to meet the changing needs of our members and 

their communities 

 

OUR ORGANIZATIONAL VALUES 
 

Service and Product Excellence 
Our credit union is committed to providing a broad range of quality products that best meet our members' 
needs.  Our professionally trained employees provide courteous service and quality advice to each 
member. 

 
Integrity, Honesty, Professional and Ethical Conduct 
We earn the loyalty and trust of our members by dealing with them in an open, honest, and respectful 
manner.  We utilize our strengths and treat our members and each other with respect and professionalism. 

 
Co-operative Principles and Philosophy 
We are a member-owned, democratically controlled organization that recognizes our community's diversity. 
W e are responsive to the needs of our membership and are committed to our community. 

 
Community Involvement and Impact 
Our decisions have an impact on the well-being of our community and our membership.  We present a 
positive image to the community by sponsoring community projects through the involvement of board 
and staff members. 

 
Autonomy 
We are committed to ensuring that the needs of our members and our community come first by 
retaining local decision making. 

 
Financial Performance and Productivity 
We are committed to achieving a stable and financially secure organization for the benefit and security 
of our membership in an ever-changing marketplace. 

 
Employee Satisfaction 
We respect our employees and their contribution to our success.  Employee involvement and 
participation is recognized and rewarded. We support employee development by providing training and 
educational opportunities while respecting their need to balance personal and professional lives. 
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Why We’re Different ……. 
 

Celebrate the value in the Credit Union difference.  While that difference may mean different things to 
different people, it always comes down to putting our members first! 

 

Local Ownership and control 

 Each credit union is an autonomous separate entity, owned and controlled by local people. 
 Each member owns one share and has one vote. 
 Board members are locally elected by their members to provide strategic direction to their 

management teams. 
 As independent financial institutions, owned and controlled by their members, credit unions are 

shaped by the needs of their community. 

 

Community Investment 

 Credit unions earnings stay in the community. 
 Credit unions support local interests. 
 Credit unions sponsor and support local initiatives. 
 Credit unions remain part of the community where our member-owners live. 
 Credit unions contribute to the local economy by providing employment.   
 Credit union employees are active participants in the community. 

 
Whether through a cash contribution, donations or door prizes or raffle prizes, free photocopies, technical 

help with the creation or printing of a program or poster, a drop off or pickup point, an activity coordinator, 

displaying raffle items and selling tickets, funding educational speakers, or lending a staff member to work 

at an event – we’re here for you! 
 

Listed below are some of the local organizations who received our support in 2024: 

 
○ Donor’s Choice     ○ Edam Heritage Hall 

○ Edam 3 Stars Senior Hockey   ○ H. Hardcastle School  

○ Edam Community Recreation Centre  ○ Mervin Golf Club   

○ Edam Fall Fair     ○ Mervin 4-H Club 

○ Edam Legion     ○ Edam West 4-H Club 

○ Edam Minor Hockey    ○ Vawn Recreation Board 

○ Edam Village Light ‘Em Up   ○ Edam Minor Ball 

○ Edam Enriched Manor    ○ Edam First Responders 

○ Youth Travel Club     ○ Edam Curling Club   

○ Edam Senior Centre    ○ Turtle River Wildlife Federation 

o      Lady Minto Resident Trust Fund  ○         Edam 49ers 

              

            We also support larger initiatives that benefit our members: 
 

             Canadian Cancer Society   -   STARS  
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Big or small …… we are 
always happy to 

support the 3-Stars!! 

  

 

Supplying pucks for the 
hockey season! 
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Edam Minor Ball Building Project Sponsor!! 

 

 

Edam First Responders 
Emergency Vehicle Sponsor!! 

 

 

Edam Heritage Hall Sponsor 
“Grandma’s Kitchen” 

Dress Down for a Cause 

In 2024 we collected $564.00 & chose 

to donate to  

The Edam First Responders! 

 

Every Friday is “Dress Down Day” at the 

Edam Credit Union.  A $2.00 fee is 

collected from each staff member, allowing 

them to dress casually for the day.  All 

funds collected for the year are donated to 

a local organization or charity of choice.   
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Mervin Golf Club Sponsor!! 

 
 

 

 

Proud supporter of our local 
4-H Clubs!! 
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Breast Cancer 
Awareness 

Autism Awareness 

and 

Elder Abuse Awareness 

Proud supporter of H. Hardcastle School! 
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International
Credit Union 

Day 
Celebrations! 

 

 

 

 

 

Fall Fair Clerking!! Ag Outlook Presentation with 
Brad Magnusson! 

Rancher’s Choice Heifer Sponsor 

 

 

 

Board of Director Training! 
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Halloween 
Fun! 

 

  

Christmas 
time in the 

office! 
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Your Money, Your Choice, Your Credit Union 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  

CREDIT UNIONS 

Members Make It Happen 
 

Quick Facts (as of December 31, 2024, unless otherwise indicated)  

 As of January 1, 2025, there are 30 provincial credit unions and one federal credit union in 

communities across Saskatchewan. 

 Provincial credit unions offer financial products and services to more than 445,000 members.  

 Saskatchewan provincial credit union assets reached $28 billion with revenue of close to $1.5 

billion.  

 Provincial credit union lending amounts were more than $21 billion.  

 As independent financial institutions owned and controlled by their members, credit unions are 

shaped by community needs. Saskatchewan provincial credit unions range in asset size from 

$49.34 million to close to $8.3 billion.  

 In 2024, Saskatchewan provincial credit unions returned over $10.5 million to their members in 

the form of patronage equity contribution and dividends.  

 Provincial credit unions are a major contributor to Saskatchewan’s economy, employing more 

than 3,000 people.  

 Funds held on deposit in Saskatchewan provincial credit unions are fully guaranteed through 

the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation. The full guarantee is made possible through 

a comprehensive deposit protection regime that is focused on prevention.  
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EDAM CREDIT UNION LIMITED 

- 81st ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AGENDA - 

 
WEDNESDAY, March 26, 2025 

 

 

 

 

 Annual General Meeting Call to Order 

 Opening Remarks / Introduction of Guests 

 Confirmation of Quorum 

 Adoption of the Agenda 

 Minutes of the 80th Annual General Meeting 

 Business Arising from Minutes 

 Report of the Board of Directors 

 Report of the General Manager 

 Report of the Auditors and Financial Statements 

 Appointment of Auditors 

 Nominations Committee Report 

 Long Term Service Awards 

 Adjournment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

e 12 
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Minutes of the 80th 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

of EDAM CREDIT UNON LIMITED, 
Held at the Edam Community Recreation Centre 

Edam, Saskatchewan 
On Wednesday, March 27, 2024 

 
 
The chairperson, President Ryan Roach, called the meeting to order at 7:23 pm.   
 
Ryan Roach declared a quorum present to conduct the meeting (45 members in 
attendance).   
 
A motion to APPROVE THE AGENDA AS PRINTED was made by Lucie Baillargeon, 
seconded by Heidi Potter-Jamieson: CARRIED 
 
MINUTES OF THE 79th ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING – Moved by Barbara Johnson, 
seconded by Gilbert LaClare to receive the minutes as read:  CARRIED. 
 
BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES - There was no business arising from the 
minutes.  
 
REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS – Moved by Greg Frey, seconded by Ross 
Houston to accept the report as read by Ryan Roach:  CARRIED. 
 
REPORT OF THE GENERAL MANAGER – Moved by Edward Mannix, seconded by 
Gilbert LaClare to accept the report as read by Wanda Mosimann:  CARRIED. 
 
REPORT OF THE AUDITORS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – Moved by Guy 
Baillargeon, seconded by Gilbert LaClare to accept the report of MNP as read by Kurt 
Wagner:  CARRIED. 
 
APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS – Moved by Greg Frey, seconded by Hazel Mosimann to 
appoint MNP as auditors for the current year:  CARRIED. 
 
REPORT OF THE NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE & ELECTION OF DIRECTORS -   
On behalf of the Committee Chair and Returning Officer, John Grant explained the function 
of the nominations committee and reported that there were three vacancies on the Board. 
 
For the Board of Directors, the following persons were nominated by the Committee:  
Taylor Baillargeon, Heidi Potter-Jamieson and Jodie Poole. 
 
On behalf of the Returning Officer, John Grant declared the following directors elected by 
acclamation: 
 
    Taylor Baillargeon 
    Heidi Potter-Jamieson 
                                           Jodie Poole 
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LONG TERM SERVICE AWARDS – Wanda Mosimann thanked Lisa Pelchat for 15 years 
of service with the Edam Credit Union. 
 
Wanda Mosimann thanked Heidi Potter-Jamieson for 5 years as a board member. 
 
Ryan Roach thanked Larry McDaid for more than 45 years of service as a board member. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS – No other business. 
 

Wanda Mosimann thanked everyone, including staff and directors for all their hard work.  
 
DOOR PRIZES – Wanda Mosimann announced door prize winners: 
 
   Elaine L’Heureux – Hat, travel mug and rain guage 
   Ilene Foulds – Hat, gloves and rain guage 
   Kay Mannix – Hat, travel mug and rain guage 
   Barb Johnson – Hat, gloves and rain guage 
   Ian Walker – Wood Board Game 
     
 
The meeting was ADJOURNED by Guy Baillargeon at 8:03 pm. 
 
 
 

  President_____________________________ 
             
       

Secretary___________________________ 
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EDAM CREDIT UNION LIMITED 

- BOARD OF DIRECTORS' REPORT FOR 2024 - 
 

 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present the 2024 Annual Report for Edam Credit Union 
Limited.   
 
As the Board of Directors, our priority is to provide sound governance and risk oversight to our credit union. 
Approving the strategic direction of the credit union is a principal focus. The Strategic Plan provides 
management with clear long-term direction to ensure we are serving our members in the best way possible. 
Management then incorporates this strategic direction into the annual operational planning process to 
develop shorter-term initiatives to support the plan. 
 
We are very satisfied with the direction and accomplishments of our management and staff. We have 
continued to grow, expand our product offerings, and strengthen our financial position, ensuring the long-
term sustainability of our credit union.    
 
As a result, we continue to share our financial success with those who helped create it.  Your board of 
directors have declared a 2024 refund of $180,000 to our membership.  This refund will continue to be 
based on the interest earned and/or paid by members of the credit union in the year 2024.  Although the 
payout criteria will remain the same, the program name has been refreshed!  Historically, referred to as 
Patronage or Member Equity, going forward you can watch for the modernized title, Loyalty Cash Rewards.  
 
Community support remains a fundamental principle of our Credit Union. We invest time, energy, and money 
in initiatives that have real impact in our community. Be it sponsoring a local event, volunteering for local 
causes, providing scholarships for our youth, or donating to local initiatives, we are honored to help make 
our community stronger.   
 
The Board of Directors acknowledge that our staff are key to our organization’s success. As their workload 
has become more complex with additional regulations and compliance requirements, advanced technology, 
and increased cyber risks, they continue to provide our members with excellent service in a friendly and 
professional manner.  Thank you for your dedication to our credit union. 
 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow directors for their commitment and dedication to our 
credit union.  Our board demonstrates their leadership by attending monthly board meetings and strategic 
planning sessions, as well as participating in board governance training and development. 
 
At the heart of our success are our members.  We are committed to providing you with the best possible 
financial solutions and experiences.  From personalized service to robust digital offerings, we strive to meet 
your expectations and help you achieve your financial goals.   
 
Thank you for your continued confidence and loyalty to Edam Credit Union Limited.  Together, we will 
continue to build a financially strong credit union that makes a tremendous impact in our community.  
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Ryan Roach, Board President 
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Code of Conduct ……. 
Edam Credit Union voluntarily adheres to the Credit Union Market Code. This code has been jointly 
developed by Saskatchewan credit unions, SaskCentral and Credit Union Deposit Guarantee to ensure 
the protection of credit union members.  The code sets forth guidelines for the following areas: 

 
• Complaint handling, which outlines the process for dealing with all complaints.  
• Fair sales by outlining the roles and relationship of staff to all members. 
• Financial planning process to advise members on the risks associated with financial planning services. 
• Privacy to protect the interests of those who do business with Edam Credit Union. 
• Professional standards to preserve a positive image of Edam Credit Union.  
• Capital management to ensure our capital structure aligns with our risk philosophy. 
• Financial reporting to adhere to business and industry standards. 
• Governance practices to adhere to the intent and stipulation of our corporate bylaws. 
• Risk management to ensure all risks are measured and managed in an acceptable fashion. 
 
Our employees and directors are obliged to act in accordance with the highest standards of personal 
and professional integrity.   

 

Our Co-operative Principles ……. 
As a true co-operative financial institution, Edam Credit Union acts in accordance with internationally 
recognized principles of co-operation: 

 

Voluntary and Open Membership - Co-operatives are voluntary organizations, open to all persons able 
to use their services and willing to accept the responsibilities of membership, without gender, social, 
racial, political, or religious discrimination. 

 

Democratic Member Control - Co-operatives are democratic organizations controlled by their 
members, who actively participate in setting their policies and making decisions. Men and women serving 
as elected representatives are accountable to the membership.  

 

Member Economic Participation - Members contribute equitably to, and democratically control, the 
capital of their co-operative. At least part of that capital is usually the common property of the co-
operative. Members usually receive limited compensation, if any, on capital subscribed as a condition of 
membership. Members allocate surpluses for any or all the following purposes: developing their co-
operative, possibly by setting up reserves, part of which at least would be indivisible; benefiting members 
in proportion to their transactions with the cooperative; and supporting other activities approved by the 
membership. 

 

Autonomy and Independence - Co-operatives are autonomous, self-help organizations controlled by 
their members. If they enter agreements with other organizations, including governments, or raise capital 
from external sources, they do so on terms that ensure democratic control by their members and maintain 
their co-operative autonomy. 

 

Education, Training, and Information - Co-operatives provide education and training for their 
members, elected representatives, managers, and employees so they can contribute effectively to the 
development of their co-operatives. They inform the public about the nature and benefits of cooperation. 

 

EDAM CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
- MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALAYSIS - 
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Co-operation among Co-operatives - Co-operatives serve their members most effectively and 
strengthen the co-operative movement by working together through local, national, regional, and 
international structures. 

 

Concern for Community - Co-operatives work for the sustainable development of their communities 
through policies. 

 

It’s a Risky Business ……. 
Just like all financial institutions, Edam Credit Union is faced with a variety of business risks. Our 
continued viability depends on proper management of those risks.  Our risk management strategy is 
threefold:  to identify and assess these risks on an on-going basis; to evaluate the controls we have in 
place to minimize our exposure to risk; and to implement risk mitigation techniques as appropriate. This 
process is called Enterprise Risk Management. Through this process, the following risks have been 
identified according to their potential impact on Edam Credit Union. 

 

Credit Risk - The risk of financial loss associated with a borrower failing to meet an obligation as agreed 
to is always present in lending activities.  This risk is managed through a continual review of established 
underwriting practices for loans, the monitoring of delinquency levels and the establishment of an 
allowance when there is a reasonable doubt of the ability to collect a loan.   

 
A primary indicator of risk in a loan portfolio is the measurement of loans with delinquency over 90 days.  
In comparison to the system average at .66%, our delinquency remains at 0% of total loans. 
 
Additional information about credit risk can be found in footnote 17 of the Financial Statement. 

 

In accordance with Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC) guidelines, the Edam Credit 
Union is required to provide additional credit disclosure regarding its residential mortgage portfolio.  

 

The Edam Credit Union is limited to providing residential mortgages of no more than 80% of the collateral 
value.  Lending at a higher loan-to-value (LTV) is permitted but requires default insurance.  The 
insurance is contractual coverage that protects the Edam Credit Unions real estate secured lending 
portfolio against potential losses caused by borrower default. Default insurance can be provided by either 
government backed entities or other approved private mortgage insurers. Currently we use Canada 
Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) to provide mortgage default insurance. 

 

A Home Equity Line of Credit (HELOC) is a form of non-amortizing (revolving) credit that is secured by 
a residential property. Unlike a traditional residential mortgage, most HELOCs are not structured to fit a 
predetermined amortization, although regular, minimum periodic payments are required. The Edam 
Credit Union is limited to providing HELOCs of no more than 65% of the collateral value. 

 

To determine the potential impact of an economic downturn, which may result in defaults and a decrease  

in housing prices, the Edam Credit Union does investigations where the residential mortgage market is 

and observes trend analysis of the information. We do comparatives of this information on an ongoing 
basis plus do comparatives of residential appraisals and Saskatchewan Assessment Management 
Agency (SAMA) to determine the effect of an economic decline (or increase) from year to year and the 
effect on our collateral values.  

Residential Mortgage Portfolio: 

      2024   % of Portfolio  

Insured     $  3,041,969         13% 

Uninsured     $20,390,167    86.68%  

HELOC (home equity line of credit)          $       90,700        .32% 

Total      $23,522,836       100% 
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Market and Interest Rate Risk - Changes in market factors such as interest rates, equity prices and 
credit spreads give rise to the risk of loss of value in a financial instrument.  Our greatest exposure is to 
the interest rate risk created by timing differences between maturing or repricing investments and loans 
and maturing or repricing deposits. 

 

Since we do not know what interest rates will be in the future, the risk of adverse impact to our earnings 
from market changes is managed by measuring and monitoring our mismatch between assets and 
liabilities to ensure that it does not become too large.   

 

Liquidity Risk - In the normal course of our business there are a variety of day-to-day obligations to 
fund, such as commitments for approved loans, drawings on lines of credit and cash withdrawals.  The 
inability to generate or obtain the necessary cash at a reasonable cost to meet these obligations in a 
timely manner is known as liquidity risk. 

 

Policies and procedures have been established by the Edam Credit Union to monitor, measure, and 
control our exposure to liquidity risk.  These include management of liquidity daily factoring in known and 
projected cash inflows and outflows, the requirement to maintain both sufficient liquid assets to meet 
normal operating requirements and excess liquid assets that can be converted to cash with minimal cost.  
Additionally, policies are in place to manage this risk at both the provincial and national credit union 
level. 

 

We have prepared and implemented a Liquidity Management Plan to ensure the optimal level of liquidity 
is maintained to meet regulatory and operational needs. The objective of the Liquidity Coverage Ratio 
(LCR) is to ensure the Edam Credit Union has an adequate stock of unencumbered high quality liquid 
assets (HQLA) that consists of assets which can be converted into cash at little or no loss of value; and 
meeting its liquidity needs for a 30-calendar day stress scenario.  We will maintain minimum liquidity 
coverage of 100% to ensure we always cover our obligations. As of December 31, 2024, Edam Credit 
Union had coverage of 405.77%. 

 

Legal & Regulatory Risk - We are regulated by the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation 
(CUDGC) and must comply with their Standards of Sound Business Practice as well as our own bylaws 
and policies and various provincial and federal legislation.  We operate in a heavily regulated industry 
and of course there is a cost to implement the necessary regulatory and compliance regimes. 

 

Compliance Officers are in place to ensure that laws, rules, regulations, and ethical standards are 
adhered to.  Ongoing training and education of directors and employees stresses the importance of 
policies and procedures and the need to follow them carefully. 

 

There are serious consequences to failing to address this risk. Failure to comply with regulatory 
standards may result in CUDGC reducing or restricting a credit union's authorities and limits; subjecting 
a credit union to preventative intervention; issuing a compliance order; or placing a credit union under  

supervision or administration.  Failure to comply with legislation may result in fines or imprisonment. 

 

Strategic Risk - Strategic risk is the risk that adverse decisions, ineffective or inappropriate business 
plans or failure to respond to changes in the competitive environment, customer preferences, product 
obsolescence or resource allocation will impact our ability to meet our objectives. This risk is a function  

of the compatibility of an organization’s strategic goals, the business strategies developed to achieve 
these goals, the resources deployed against these goals and the quality of implementation. 

 

Edam Credit Union has a formal planning process which results in a strategic business plan focused on 
strategic objectives. The credit union uses a reporting process to monitor performance relative to plans 
and provides regular updates to the Board. The Enterprise Risk Management process further identifies 
emerging risks and formulates plans as risks are identified. In addition, directors attend training as well 
as system meetings and conferences to hear other perspectives and learn from other credit unions. 
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We continue to challenge ourselves with our Technology Road Map to ensure we are keeping pace to 
stay relevant and up to date for our members. 

 

Operational Risk - Operational risk creates the potential of loss resulting from inadequate or failed 
internal processes, people and systems or external events.  Exposures to this risk arise from deficiencies 
in internal controls, technology failures, human error, inadequate employee integrity or natural disasters.   

 

This risk is managed using policies and procedures, controls, and monitoring. To minimize the risk from 
deficiencies in internal controls or failed internal processes, we utilize an annual independent audit of 
these internal control processes in addition to our annual external audit and regular Credit Union Deposit 
Guarantee Corporation examinations. Recommendations that result from any of these reviews may be 
implemented to strengthen our already sound practices and increase efficiencies. 
 

Board of Directors ……. 
Anchored in the co-operative principle of democratic control, Edam Credit Union is governed by a member-
elected Board of Directors. The Board is accountable for leading and nurturing the long-term strategic 
direction of the Credit Union while creating and maintaining value for its members and communities. 

 
The Credit Union is committed to following the regulations and guidelines set by the Government of 
Saskatchewan, and the Credit Union Act 1998, Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation through The 
Standards of Sound Business Practice, and our own Bylaws and policies. 

 
The board is composed of 9 individuals elected by the members of the credit union.  Board members are 
elected for 3-year terms.  Director compensation is found in the notes to the financial statement. All 
directors are required to attend at least 75% of the board meetings annually.  It is the expectation of our 
regulatory bodies that the Board of Directors are educated and understand the risks associated with 
directing the Edam Credit Union. 

 
The responsibilities of the board of a modern financial services organization involve many duties.  Edam 
Credit Union maintains several committees comprised of directors, allowing a clear focus on specific areas 
of activity vital to the effective operation of our credit union.  

 
The Executive Committee is comprised of the President, Vice-President and one other board member 
appointed at the annual organizational meeting.  This committee is authorized to deal with any matters 
that arise between board meetings which require immediate attention.   

 
Three directors are also appointed annually to the Conduct Review Committee.  This committee ensures  
that Edam Credit Union acts with the full integrity and objectivity of its directors and employees, by having 
in place policies, processes and practices that protect people and the organization from claims and from 
the perception of unfair benefit or conflict of interest.  

 
By policy, the Nominations Committee consist of the three directors whose terms will expire in the 
subsequent year. 
 
We also have a Policy Review Committee composed of five appointed directors.  They are tasked with the 
responsibility of reviewing and approving Edam Credit Union’s policies. 
 
At our credit union, every director serves on the Audit & Risk Committee.  This allows all board members 

to participate in the reviews of internal controls, legislative compliance, risk management and the financial 

results of our operations.   
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    And Capital is King ……. 
Our regulator, Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC) prescribes capital adequacy 
measures and minimum capital requirements.  We also have an internal capital adequacy assessment 
process (ICAAP) to determine and maintain the appropriate level of capital required to support 
operations, risk, and growth.  Compliance with these requirements is critical. 

 

The financial strength of our credit union is primarily measured by our capital ratios.  As part of our capital 
management process, we closely monitor two important indicators of capital adequacy.  One is overall 
capital, also known as retained earnings, as a percentage of total assets, and this ratio is referred to as 
the leverage ratio. In 2024 this ratio ended at 11.80%, well above the regulatory standard set by CUDGC 
of 5.00%. 

 
We also monitor our risk weighted capital ratio which is a measure of our assets, and their level of risk 
compared to Edam Credit Union’s equity reserves.  Each type of asset (which would include loans and 
investments) has been assigned a specific risk weighting by CUDGC. We are required to measure our 
capital level based on a calculation using these weightings.  CUDGC has set the current required level 
at 10.50%.  In 2024 this ratio ended at 24.36%, well above the regulatory requirement, which means 
Edam Credit Union is in a very strong capital position.   

 

Our continued attention to proper capital management over the years has ensured that your credit union 
has been able to grow and thrive. This strong capital base reduces the threat to our future viability from 
the risks outlined on the previous pages. 

 

This stewardship has contributed to our ability to remain an autonomous entity with the financial strength 
to allow us to research our best future options as opposed to many credit unions that end up forced to 
merge to survive.  Ensuring that the needs of our members and our community come first are  

important considerations as we consider our future. 
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EDAM CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
- MANAGER’S REPORT FOR 2024 - 

 
 

Service to Members First  
 

Credit unions are owned by their members and exist to serve those members’ financial well-being and 
support their communities. The priority that remains top of mind for each of our employees is service to 
members first. Providing excellent member service is not just about the products – it is really about the 
people and the experience you have every time you come into the credit union. Edam Credit Union supports 
a culture where on-going learning is both encouraged and expected of employees and directors. As our 
members’ needs expand, so do our efforts to meet them.  
 

Financial Strength 
 

Assets 
 

In 2024 total assets grew from $78.89 million to over $85 million for an increase of 8.40% over last year. It 
was another year of excellent growth as we surpassed the provincial average of 6.08%. This growth was 
comprised of an increase in our member loans receivable, and in our cash and investments.  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We experienced slow and steady loan growth throughout 2024. As depicted in the graph below, we ended 
the year with $49.25 million in loans outstanding, for an increase of 5.34% over last year, falling short of the 
provincial average growth rate of 6.76%. 
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With assets growing faster than our loans, our loan to asset ratio experienced a decrease, ending the year 
at 57%, lower than we ideally like to see. To ensure we are maximizing our profit potential, it is our goal to 
maintain a ratio of at least 65-70%. Our lending department continues to look for new loan prospects by 
seeking out local lending opportunities, purchasing loans from other Credit Unions, and offering interest rate 
specials.  Growing our loan portfolio, particularly in the Agriculture and Commercial sectors, will be a key 
focus for 2025, as this is crucial for the continued success of our credit union. In 2024, the Bank of Canada 
decreased their policy interest rate five times for a total decrease of 1.75%.  As a result, our interest rates 
have also reduced helping to make borrowing more affordable for our members. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The mix of a balance sheet plays a critical role in profitability. A significant amount of our earning assets 
remains invested in low-risk deposits. By policy we put the safety of principal above all else when evaluating 
potential investments.  At approximately $24 million, our investments form 28% of our total assets. 
 
Liabilities  
 

Typically, the growth in assets corresponds to the growth in our member deposits, as those funds form part 
of the credit union cash and investments on the asset side of the balance sheet. This held true in 2024, as 
our member deposits increased steadily ending the year at $75.32 million resulting in an increase of 8.33% 
over last year. In comparison, the provincial average growth was 6.37%. 
 
Deposit growth provides the credit union with liquidity to fund loan growth, and this is important as we rely 
on interest revenue from these loans as a main source of income for our organization, as they typically 
generate a higher rate of return in comparison to investments. 
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Profitability 
 

Revenue 
 

Edam Credit Union’s business as a financial institution is to provide deposit services to our members and 
then to use those funds to generate loans and invest the remaining dollars. Revenue generated from those 
activities is categorized as interest revenue and non-interest revenue. 
 
Interest revenue continued to improve steadily quarter after quarter, surpassing our annual earnings 
expectations. Non-interest income is typically composed of service charges, loan fees and commissions we 
receive on the products and services provided to our members through our partner affiliates, and it remained 
steady in 2024.  
 
Expenses 
 

As expected, interest expense on member deposits increased over last year by approximately $450,000. 
Our personnel expenses remained similar to that of last year.  General business expenses are a compilation 
of several expense categories including fraud and cyber security, technology, and advertising costs. To 
keep pace with technology advancements and compliance requirements we are continually faced with 
increased costs, however, we are happy to have experienced a slight decrease in total operating expenses 
over last year. Edam Credit Union strives to effectively manage non-interest expenses and is proud to report 
an efficiency ratio of 58.26% on December 31, 2024. In comparison, the provincial average was 73.26%. 
 
Profit 
 

In 2024, our net income (after Cash Loyalty Rewards and Income Tax) was $847,261 compared to last year 
at $794,897. Overall, with an ROA of .99%, our credit union had another profitable year, allowing us to 
maintain our strong capital position. The provincial average ROA was .52%. While we are one of the 
smallest credit unions in the province, our capital levels remain within the top five of our peer credit unions.  
 

The Year in Review  
 

As we reflect on the past year, I am proud to share the highlights of our journey. Our responsibility extends 
beyond financial performance. As Ryan mentioned, we recognize the integral role we play in our community, 
and we remain deeply committed to making a positive impact.  
 
Throughout the year, we continued to support our local youth. In June, we hosted a Lunch n’ Learn session 

for the graduating class of 2024 where the students attended our office and enjoyed a complimentary lunch 

and drink. They learned how they could stay connected with Edam Credit Union and were provided with 

tips to encourage healthy financial habits as they embark on their next stage of life. Also in June, we were 

proud to present the 2024 Edam Credit Union Community Service Scholarship to Zoey Pollard for 

demonstrating an active involvement in our community. In the fall of 2024, we incorporated a Financial 

Literacy session for the grade 10-12 students into our Credit Union Day celebrations. The session included 

presentations by staff members, followed with a fun game of jeopardy to evaluate the students’ knowledge, 

inclusive of many great prizes. This event was very well received, and we look forward to building on it more 

this year. 

We were honoured to make substantial contributions to two important community initiatives in 2024. The 
Edam First Responders are vital to our community in providing immediate assistance during medical 
emergencies, and we were happy to support their fundraising efforts for the purchase of a new emergency 
response vehicle. We were also pleased to be a Hall of Fame sponsor of the Edam Minor Ball building 
project that was completed in the spring of 2024. The building is a fantastic addition to the ballpark, as well 
as a long-term asset to our community. 
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We are proud to stand by the credit union philosophy of sharing our profits with our members and our 
community. With over $230,000 in Loyalty Cash Rewards and community investment combined, we 
certainly delivered on this commitment. 
 
Throughout the year, we continued to improve and expand our product offerings. We introduced the Home 
Equity Mortgage product, providing our members with the convenience of using the equity in their home, to 
borrow once, for all their needs. Benefits of this product include better interest rates, reduced application 
fees, and as you pay back the amount you owe, your available credit increases. In addition, work 
commenced towards the implementation of Mobile Pay. Soon, our members will be able to add their Edam 
Credit Union Member Card to their Mobile Wallet, providing them the convenience of paying with their 
phone!  
 
Enhancing the levels of security around our members information and money continued to remain a priority 
throughout the year. Finding a proper balance between member convenience and security awareness is 
key to protecting our members money, and we certainly appreciate the co-operation and understanding of 
our members. 
 
The credit union landscape continues to evolve, as there were two credit union merger announcements in 
2024. Three rural based credit unions, Cypress, Diamond North, and Prairie Centre have joined together to 
form Prosperity Credit Union. Synergy, Cornerstone, and Conexus credit unions have announced a merger 
proposal and if they receive the support of their membership, they will consolidate effective January 1, 2026. 
As credit unions become larger, it is common to see their discontinued use of services that smaller credit 
unions use collaboratively, as a cost savings approach. It is no secret that these mergers increase the 
challenges of small credit unions. 
 

On the Horizon 
 
Unfortunately, our online banking and website provider has announced they will be winding down their digital 
banking business due to a recent analysis concluding that the investment required to meet the needs of 
clients would not be sustainable over the long term. As a result, we will be working with a National Digital 
Banking Working Group to limit our costs for the selection and migration to a new digital banking solution 
over the next 24 months. We have also received notice that our internal accounting platform will be reaching 
its end of life in the near future. Over the next 12-18 months we will be analyzing our options and working 
towards the selection and transition to a new platform.  
 
As we approach the second quarter in 2025, we recognize there are challenges ahead. The ongoing 
economic uncertainty, trade disputes, and political unrest within our country and the rest of the world may 
have an impact on our members, our community, and our credit union. We are prepared to continue 
providing our members and community with the stability and support they may need during these times. 
With anticipated reduced profit margins due to a lower interest rate environment, and increased costs to 
fund projects such as those previously mentioned, we will continue to focus on finding efficiencies to 
overcome the challenges that may lie ahead. We are prepared to weather this storm with the continued 
support of our members and our community. 
 
For more than 80 years we have remained a strong local credit union committed to our members, our 
community, and our vision – to provide our members with excellent member service.  
 
 

 Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

Wanda Mosimann, General Manager 
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CREDIT UNION DEPOSIT GUARANTEE CORPORATION 
ANNUAL REPORT MESSAGE 2024 

 
 

January 2025 
 

 
 
 
Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (the Corporation) functions as the deposit 
guarantor for Saskatchewan’s provincially regulated credit unions (Saskatchewan Credit 
Unions) and serves as the primary regulator for Saskatchewan Credit Unions and Credit 
Union Central of Saskatchewan (SaskCentral). Collectively, these entities are referred to as 
Provincially Regulated Financial Institutions or “PRFIs”. The Corporation operates under 
provincial legislation, namely, The Credit Union Act, 1998 and The Credit Union Central of 
Saskatchewan Act, 2016. The responsibility for overseeing the Corporation is assigned to 
the Registrar of Credit Unions with the Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of 
Saskatchewan as specified by provincial legislation. 
 
Established in 1953, the Corporation holds the distinction of being the first deposit 
guarantor in Canada, ensuring the safety of deposits against credit union failure. Through 
the promoting of responsible governance, risk management, and prudent management of 
capital, liquidity, along with guaranteeing deposits, the Corporation plays a crucial role in 
fostering confidence in Saskatchewan PRFIs.  
 
For more information about the Corporation’s responsibilities and its role in promoting the 
strength and stability of Saskatchewan PRFIs, consult the Corporation’s web site at 
www.cudgc.sk.ca. 
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Management's Responsibility

To the Members of Edam Credit Union Limited:

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the accompanying financial statements, including responsibility
for significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with IFRS® Accounting Standards and ensuring that all information in
the annual report is consistent with the statements. This responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting principles and methods,
and making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, management designs and maintains the
necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets
are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.

The Board of Directors and Audit and Risk Committee are composed entirely of Directors who are neither management nor employees
of the Credit Union. The Board is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial reporting responsibilities,
and for approving the financial information included in the annual report. The Audit and Risk Committee has the responsibility of meeting
with management, internal auditors, and external auditors to discuss the internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing
matters and financial reporting issues. The Committee is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the Credit Union's
external auditors.

MNP LLP is appointed by the members to audit the financial statements and report directly to them; their report follows. The external
auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically and separately with, both the Committee and management to discuss their
audit findings.

March 13, 2025

{{esl:Signer1:Signature:size(200,40)}}

General Manager
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Edam Credit Union Limited: 

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Edam Credit Union Limited (the "Credit Union"), which comprise the

statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024, and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in

members' equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material

accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of

the Credit Union as at December 31, 2024, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in

accordance with IFRS® Accounting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities

under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

section of our report. We are independent of the Credit Union in accordance with the ethical requirements that are

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in

accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with

IFRS® Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the

preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Credit Union’s ability to continue

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Credit Union or to cease operations, or has no realistic

alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Credit Union’s financial reporting process.

T: 306.665.6766   F: 306.665.9910Suite 800, 119 - 4th Avenue S, Saskatoon SK, S7K 5X2
MNP LLP

    MNP.ca

LLP - Saskatoon - 119 - 4th Avenue S
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued from previous page)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with

Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness

of the Credit Union’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates

and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions

that may cast significant doubt on the Credit Union’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude

that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related

disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,

future events or conditions may cause the Credit Union to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

Saskatoon, Saskatchewan

March 13, 2025 Chartered Professional Accountants
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Edam Credit Union Limited
Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2024

2024 2023

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) 11,496,121 5,927,248
Investments (Note 5) 24,178,302 25,598,069
Member loans receivable (Note 6) 49,258,661 46,760,166
Other assets (Note 7) 121,878 119,543
Property, plant and equipment (Note 8) 464,850 485,260

85,519,812 78,890,286

Liabilities
Member deposits (Note 10) 75,317,584 69,526,048
Other liabilities (Note 12) 155,189 162,426
Membership shares (Note 13) 291,146 293,180

75,763,919 69,981,654

Commitments  (Note 17), (Note 19)

Members' equity
Retained earnings 9,755,893 8,908,632

85,519,812 78,890,286

Approved on behalf of the Board

Director Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Edam Credit Union Limited
Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended December 31, 2024

2024 2023

Interest income
Member loans 2,697,104 2,468,514
Investments 1,335,125 939,999

4,032,229 3,408,513

Interest expense
Member deposits 1,317,903 870,863
Borrowed money 1,568 1,736

1,319,471 872,599

Gross financial margin 2,712,758 2,535,914
Other income 271,793 275,590

2,984,551 2,811,504

Operating expenses
Personnel 866,880 881,669
Security 69,865 62,468
Organizational 48,737 34,934
Occupancy 92,537 92,059
General business 643,789 654,356

1,721,808 1,725,486

Income before provision for impaired loans, patronage refund and provision
for (recovery of) income taxes 1,262,743 1,086,018
Provision for impaired loans (Note 6) 53,005 42,207
Patronage refund (Note 14) 180,000 99,989

Income before provision for (recovery of) income taxes 1,029,738 943,822

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes (Note 11)
Current 194,815 151,486
Deferred (12,338) (2,561)

182,477 148,925

Comprehensive income 847,261 794,897

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Edam Credit Union Limited
Statement of Changes in Members' Equity

For the year ended December 31, 2024

Retained
earnings Total equity

Balance December 31, 2022 8,113,735 8,113,735

Comprehensive income 794,897 794,897

Balance December 31, 2023 8,908,632 8,908,632

Comprehensive income 847,261 847,261

Balance December 31, 2024 9,755,893 9,755,893

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Edam Credit Union Limited
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2024

2024 2023

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating activities

Interest received from member loans 2,654,646 2,407,484
Interest received from investments 1,322,196 1,658,425
Other income 271,086 275,590
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (1,600,204) (1,624,329)
Interest paid on deposits (1,152,876) (541,050)
Interest paid on borrowed money (1,568) (1,736)
Patronage refund (180,000) (99,989)
Income taxes paid (230,304) (78,195)

1,082,976 1,996,200

Financing activities
Net change in member deposits 5,626,509 6,759,551
Net change in membership shares (2,034) (4,669)

5,624,475 6,754,882

Investing activities
Net change in investments 1,432,697 (8,280,892)
Net change in member loans receivable (2,508,337) (4,415,164)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (62,938) (60,063)

(1,138,578) (12,756,119)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,568,873 (4,005,037)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 5,927,248 9,932,285

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 11,496,121 5,927,248

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Edam Credit Union Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2024

1. Reporting entity

Edam Credit Union Limited (the “Credit Union”) was formed pursuant to the Credit Union Act 1998 of Saskatchewan (“the
Act”) and operates one Credit Union branch. 

The Credit Union serves members and non-members in Edam, Saskatchewan and the surrounding community. The
address of the Credit Union’s registered office is 2001 Main Street, Edam, Saskatchewan.

The Credit Union operates principally in personal and commercial banking in Saskatchewan.

The Credit Union conducts its principal operations through one branch, offering products and services including deposit
business, individual lending, and independent business and commercial lending. The deposit business provides a wide
range of deposit and investment products and sundry financial services to all members. The lending business provides a
variety of credit products and services designed specifically for each particular group of borrowers. Other business
comprises business of a corporate nature such as investment, risk management, asset liability management, treasury
operations and revenue and expenses not expressly attributed to the business units.

Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS® Accounting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on March 13, 2025.

2. Basis of preparation

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost basis except for the revaluation of certain financial
instruments.

Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Credit Union’s functional currency.

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Credit Union’s financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities, at the reporting date. These estimates and assumptions have been made using careful judgment; however,
uncertainties could result in outcomes that would require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or
liability affected in the future.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in comprehensive income in the period in which the estimate is revised if revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date are discussed
below.

By their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty, and the effect on the financial statements from
changes in such estimates in future years could be significant.

Classification of financial assets 

Classification of financial assets requires management to make judgments regarding the business model under which the
Credit Union’s financial assets are held and whether contractual cash flows consist solely of payments of principal and
interest. Management has determined that the penalty to exercise prepayment features embedded in certain loans made to
members do not result in payments that are not solely payments of principal and interest because they represent
reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract.
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Edam Credit Union Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2024

2. Basis of preparation  (Continued from previous page)

Key assumptions in determining the allowance for expected credit losses

At each reporting period, financial assets are assessed to determine whether their credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition. In determining whether credit risk has significantly increased, management develops a number of
assumptions about the following factors which impact the borrowers’ ability to meet debt obligations:

 Expected significant increase in unemployment rates and interest rates

 Declining revenues, working capital deficiencies, increases in balance sheet leverage and liquidity

 Expected or actual changes in internal credit ratings of the borrowers or external credit ratings of the instrument

 The correlation between credit risk on all lending facilities of the same borrower

 Changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-party guarantees or credit

enhancements

Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions are required when calculating the expected credit losses of financial
assets. In measuring the 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, management makes assumptions about
prepayments, the timing and extent of missed payments or default events. In addition, management makes assumptions
and estimates about the impact that future events may have on the historical data used to measure expected credit losses.

In estimating expected credit losses, the Credit Union develops a number of assumptions as follows:

 The period over which the Credit Union is exposed to credit risk, considering for example, prepayments, extension

options, demand features

 The probability-weighted outcome, including identification of scenarios that specify the amount and timing of the cash

flows for particular outcomes and the estimated probability of those outcomes

 The risk of default occurring on loans during their expected lives and during the next 12 months after the reporting

date

 Expected cash short falls including recoveries, costs to recover and the effects of any collateral or other credit

enhancements

 Estimates of effective interest rates used in incorporating the time value of money

 Effects of the economic changes, such as inflation and rising interest rates, on specific sectors to which the Credit

Union has credit exposures

The above assumptions are based on historical information and adjusted for current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. The Credit Union determines adjustments needed to its historical assumptions by monitoring the
correlation of the probability of default and loss rates with the following economic variables:

 Interest rates

 Unemployment rates

 Gross domestic product

 Inflation

 Loan to value ratios 

 Housing price indices

The estimate of expected credit losses reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by
evaluating a range of possible outcomes that are neither best-case nor worse-case scenarios. The Credit Union uses
judgment to weight these scenarios.

3. Material accounting policy information

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the  financial statements are set out below. The policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Regulations to the Act specify that certain items are required to be disclosed in the financial statements which are
presented at annual meetings of members. It is management's opinion that the disclosures in these financial statements
and notes comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of the Act. Where necessary, reasonable estimates and
interpretations have been made in presenting this information.
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Edam Credit Union Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2024

3. Material accounting policy information  (Continued from previous page)

Foreign currency translation

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the Credit Union at exchange
rates prevailing at the transaction dates (spot exchange rates). Monetary assets and liabilities are retranslated at the
exchange rates at the statement of financial position date. Exchange gains and losses on translation or settlement are
recognized in comprehensive income for the current year. 

Revenue recognition

The following describes the Credit Union’s principal activities from which it generates revenue.

Service charge fees, commission and other revenue

The Credit Union generates revenue from providing various financing and investing services to its members. Revenue is
recognized as services are rendered.

The Credit Union does not have an enforceable right to payment until services are rendered and commission revenue
earned when the products are sold.

The amount of revenue recognized on these transactions is based on the price specified in the contract.

The Credit Union applies the practical expedient, whereby the Credit Union does not adjust the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of a significant financing component if the Credit Union expects, at contract inception, that the
period between when the Credit Union transfers a promised good or service to a member and when the member pays for
that good or service will be one year or less.

Revenue recognition for items outside the scope of IFRS 15 are included in the financial instruments section of Note 3.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and initial measurement

The Credit Union recognizes financial assets when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets are measured initially at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition. Transaction costs
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or loss when incurred.

Classification and subsequent measurement

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income ("FVOCI") or fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"). The Credit Union determines the
classification of its financial assets, together with any embedded derivatives, based on the business model for managing the
financial assets and their contractual cash flow characteristics. 

Debt instruments are classified as follows:

 Amortized cost - Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows are solely

payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest revenue is calculated using the effective

interest method and gains or losses arising from impairment, foreign exchange and derecognition are recognized in

profit or loss. Financial assets measured at amortized cost are comprised of cash equivalents, SaskCentral and

Concentra Bank deposits, member loans receivable and accrued interest thereon, and accounts receivable balances. 

 Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss - Assets that do not meet the criteria to be measured at amortized cost,

or fair value through other comprehensive income, are measured at fair value through profit or loss. All interest income

and changes in the financial assets’ carrying amount are recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets mandatorily

measured at fair value through profit or loss include cash. 
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Edam Credit Union Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2024

3. Material accounting policy information  (Continued from previous page)

The Credit Union measures all equity investments at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in profit or loss. Equity
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss are comprised of other equity instruments and SaskCentral and
Concentra Bank shares.

Business model assessment

The Credit Union assesses the objective of its business model for holding a financial asset at a level of aggregation which
best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. Information considered in this
assessment includes stated policies and objectives, and how performance of the portfolio is evaluated.

Contractual cash flow assessment

The cash flows of financial assets are assessed as to whether they are solely payments of principal and interest on the
basis of their contractual terms. For this purpose, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money, the credit risk associated with the principal
amount outstanding, and other basic lending risks and costs. In performing this assessment, the Credit Union considers
factors that would alter the timing and amount of cash flows such as prepayment and extension features, terms that might
limit the Credit Union’s claim to cash flows, and any features that modify consideration for the time value of money.

Reclassifications

The Credit Union reclassifies debt instruments only when its business model for managing those financial assets has
changed. Reclassifications are applied prospectively from the reclassification date and any previously recognized gains,
losses or interest are not restated.

Impairment

The Credit Union recognizes a loss allowance for the expected credit losses associated with its financial assets, other than
debt instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss and equity investments, as well as lease receivables, contract
assets, and any financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Expected credit losses are measured to reflect a probability-weighted amount, the time value of money, and reasonable and
supportable information regarding past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

For member loans receivable, the Credit Union records a loss allowance equal to the expected credit losses resulting from
default events that are possible within the next 12-month period, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. For those financial assets for which the Credit Union assessed that a significant increase in credit
risk has occurred, the Credit Union records a loss allowance equal to the expected credit losses resulting from all possible
default events over the assets’ contractual lifetime.

The Credit Union applies the simplified approach for accounts receivable that do not contain a significant financing
component. Using the simplified approach, the Credit Union records a loss allowance equal to the expected credit losses
resulting from all possible default events over the assets’ contractual lifetime.

The Credit Union assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired at the reporting date. Regular indicators that a
financial instrument is credit-impaired include significant financial difficulties as evidenced through borrowing patterns or
observed balances in other accounts, breaches of borrowing contracts such as default events or breaches of borrowing
covenants, requests to restructure loan payment schedules. For financial assets assessed as credit-impaired at the
reporting date, the Credit Union continues to recognize a loss allowance equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

 For financial assets measured at amortized cost, as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the financial

assets; 

 For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, as a provision; and

 For facilities with both a drawn and undrawn component where the Credit Union cannot separately identify expected

credit losses between the two components, as a deduction from the carrying amount of the drawn component. Any

excess of the loss allowance over the carrying amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision.

Financial assets are written off when the Credit Union has no reasonable expectations of recovering all or any portion
thereof.
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Refer to Note 17 for additional information about the Credit Union’s credit risk management process, credit risk exposure
and the amounts arising from expected credit losses.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Credit Union applies its accounting policies for the derecognition of a financial asset to a part of a financial asset only
when:

 The part comprises only specifically identified cash flows from a financial asset;

 The part comprises only a pro-rata share of the cash flows from a financial asset; or

 The part comprises only a pro-rata share of specifically identified cash flows from a financial asset.

In all other situations the Credit Union applies its accounting policies for the derecognition of a financial asset to the entirety
of a financial asset.

The Credit Union derecognizes a financial asset when its contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or the financial asset has been transferred under particular circumstances.

For this purpose, a financial asset is transferred if the Credit Union either:

 Transfers the right to receive the contractual cash flows of the financial asset, or

 Retains the right to receive the contractual cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes an obligation to pay received

cash flows in full to one or more third parties without material delay and is prohibited from further selling or transferring

the financial asset.

Transferred financial assets are evaluated to determine the extent to which the Credit Union retains the risks and rewards of
ownership. When the Credit Union neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset, it evaluates whether it has retained control of the financial asset.

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred, or risks and rewards have neither been
transferred nor retained and control of the financial asset has not been retained, the Credit Union derecognizes the financial
asset. At the same time, the Credit Union separately recognizes as assets or liabilities the fair value of any rights and
obligations created or retained in the transfer. Any difference between the carrying amount measured at the date of
recognition and the consideration received is recognized in profit or loss. Such transactions include syndications of member
loans. 

Modification of financial assets

The Credit Union assesses the modification of terms of a financial asset to evaluate whether its contractual rights to the
cash flows from that asset have expired in accordance with the Credit Union’s derecognition policy.

When the modifications do not result in derecognition of the financial asset, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
is recalculated with any difference between the previous carrying amount and the new carrying amount recognized in profit
or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated as the present value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.

For the purpose of applying the impairment requirements, at each reporting date subsequent to the modification, the Credit
Union continues to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on the modified financial assets from
the date of initial recognition.

Financial liabilities

Recognition and initial measurement

The Credit Union recognizes a financial liability when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At
initial recognition, the Credit Union measures financial liabilities at their fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to their issuance, with the exception of financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss for which transaction costs are immediately recorded in profit or loss.
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Classification and subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate
method. Interest, gains and losses relating to a financial liability are recognized in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Credit Union derecognizes a financial liability only when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recorded in profit or loss when the Credit Union’s right to receive payments is established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Credit Union, and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably. 

Interest

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over the expected life of the
financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or the amortized cost of the financial liability. The
effective interest rate is calculated considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments, except for the expected
credit losses of financial assets.

The ‘amortized cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the instrument is measured on initial
recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus any cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of
any difference between the initial amount and maturity amount and adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance. The
‘gross carrying amount’ of a financial asset is the amortized cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit
losses. 

Interest income and expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or the amortized cost of the financial liability.

Where a financial asset has become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated in
subsequent periods by applying the effective interest method to the amortized cost of the financial asset. If the asset
subsequently ceases to be credit-impaired, calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Collateral

The Credit Union recognizes the proceeds from the sale of any non-cash collateral that has been pledged to it and a liability
measured at fair value for its obligation to return the collateral.

If a debtor defaults under the terms of its contract and is no longer entitled to the return of any collateral, the Credit Union
recognizes the collateral as an asset initially measured at fair value or, if it has already sold the collateral, derecognizes its
obligation to return the collateral.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Credit Union’s cash management system. 

Investments

Each investment is classified into one of the categories described under financial instruments. The classification dictates
the accounting treatment for the carrying value and changes in that value.

SaskCentral and Concentra Bank deposits and shares

SaskCentral and Concentra Bank deposits are measured at amortized cost. Shares are measured at fair value, with
adjustments to fair value recognized in profit or loss.
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Portfolio investments

 Investments in other equity instruments are measured at fair value, with adjustments recognized in profit or loss. 

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Credit Union reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Credit Union estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating units (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU’s, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of CGU’s for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in comprehensive
income.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognized immediately in comprehensive income.

Syndication

The Credit Union syndicates individual assets with various other financial institutions primarily to manage credit risk, create
liquidity and manage regulatory capital for the Credit Union. Syndicated loans transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
related to the transferred financial assets and are derecognized from the Credit Union’s statement of financial position. All
loans syndicated by the Credit Union are on a fully serviced basis. The Credit Union receives fee income for services
provided in the servicing of the transferred financial assets. 

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment  are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. When parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

All assets having limited useful lives are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Land
has an unlimited useful life and is therefore not depreciated. Assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition. Internally
constructed assets are depreciated from the time an asset is available for use.

The depreciation rates applicable for each class of asset during the current and comparative year are as follows:

Rate
Buildings 5 - 25 years
Furniture and equipment 3 - 10 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method applied to each class of assets are reassessed at each reporting
date. 

Gains or losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and recognized in comprehensive income as other operating income or
other operating costs, respectively. 
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Income taxes

The Credit Union accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Current and deferred taxes are recognized
in comprehensive income except to the extent that the tax is recognized either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, or the tax arises from a business combination. Under this method, the provision for income taxes is based on the tax
rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the assets are
realized or the liabilities are settled. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs from its tax base,
except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and temporary differences arising on
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting or taxable income.

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences is restricted to
those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available which allows the deferred tax asset to be
utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Membership shares

Shares are classified as liabilities or member equity in accordance with their terms. Shares redeemable at the option of the
member, either on demand or on withdrawal from membership, are classified as liabilities. Shares redeemable at the
discretion of the Credit Union Board of Directors are classified as equity. Shares redeemable subject to regulatory
restrictions are accounted for using the criteria set out in IFRIC 2 Members' Shares in Cooperative Entities and Similar
Instruments.

4. Cash and cash equivalents

2024 2023

Cash 1,531,029 1,330,525
Cash equivalents 9,965,092 4,596,723

11,496,121 5,927,248
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2024 2023
Measured at amortized cost 

SaskCentral and Concentra Bank deposits 23,720,689 24,115,820

Measured at fair value through profit or loss
SaskCentral and Concentra Bank shares 189,340 1,226,906
Other equity instruments 20,000 20,000

209,340 1,246,906

23,930,029 25,362,726

Accrued interest 248,273 235,343

24,178,302 25,598,069

The table below shows the credit risk exposure on investments. Ratings are provided by Dominion Bond Rating Services
("DBRS") unless otherwise indicated.

2024 2023

Investment portfolio rating
BBB 18,000,010 19,500,010
R1 5,910,019 5,842,716
Unrated 20,000 20,000

23,930,029 25,362,726

Statutory liquidity

Pursuant to Regulations, the Standards of Sound Business Practices ("SSBP") requires that the Credit Union maintain
8.65% of its total liabilities in specified liquidity deposits. The provincial regulator for Credit Unions, Credit Union Deposit
Guarantee Corporation ("CUDGC"), requires that the Credit Union adhere to these prescribed limits and restrictions. As of
December 31, 2024 the Credit Union met the requirement.

Liquidity coverage ratio

The Credit Union has implemented a liquidity coverage ratio (“LCR”) which is a regulatory requirement of CUDGC. The
objective of the LCR is to ensure that the Credit Union has an adequate stock of unencumbered high-quality liquid assets
(“HQLA”) that:

 consists of cash or assets that can be converted into cash at little or no loss of value; and

 meets its liquidity needs for a 30-calendar day stress scenario, by which time it is assumed corrective actions have

been taken by the Credit Union and/or CUDGC.

This stress scenario noted above is viewed as a minimum requirement. The Credit Union conducts additional stress tests to
assess the level of liquidity to hold beyond the regulatory minimum, and constructs scenarios that could cause difficulties for
specific business activities. Internal stress tests have longer time horizons and results are reported to CUDGC upon
request.

The LCR is calculated as the value of the stock in HQLA in stressed conditions divided by the total net cash outflows over
the next 30 calendar days.

As at December 31, 2024, the Credit Union is in compliance with regulatory requirements.
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Principal and allowance by loan type:

2024

Principal
performing

Principal
impaired

Allowance
specific

Allowance for
expected

credit losses
Net carrying

value

Agriculture loans and mortgages 14,499,115 - - 27,294 14,471,821
Commercial loans and mortgages 6,553,432 - - 57,185 6,496,247
Consumer loans 3,423,558 - - 6,253 3,417,305
Lines of credit 1,026,500 - - 8,224 1,018,276
Residential mortgages 23,522,836 - - 37,713 23,485,123

49,025,441 - - 136,669 48,888,772
Foreclosed assets 99,264 - - - 99,264
Accrued interest 270,625 - - - 270,625

49,395,330 - - 136,669 49,258,661

2023

Principal
performing

Principal
impaired

Allowance
specific

Allowance for
expected

credit losses
Net carrying

value

Agriculture loans and mortgages 14,436,390 - - 25,405 14,410,985
Commercial loans and mortgages 4,374,337 141,095 41,095 32,863 4,441,474
Consumer loans 3,658,432 - - 5,965 3,652,467
Lines of credit 1,429,088 - - 9,468 1,419,620
Residential mortgages 22,653,697 - - 33,368 22,620,329

46,551,944 141,095 41,095 107,069 46,544,875
Accrued interest 215,291 12,875 12,875 - 215,291

46,767,235 153,970 53,970 107,069 46,760,166

The allowance for loan impairment changed as follows:

2024 2023

Balance, beginning of year 161,039 118,832
Provision for impaired loans 53,005 42,207

214,044 161,039
Less: accounts written off, net of recoveries 77,375 -

Balance, end of year 136,669 161,039
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2024 2023

Accounts receivable 36,000 42,595
Prepaid expenses and deposits 36,698 40,106
Deferred tax asset 49,180 36,842

121,878 119,543

8. Property, plant and equipment

Land Buildings
Furniture and

equipment Total

Cost 

Balance at December 31, 2022 7,223 1,113,512 387,145 1,507,880

Additions - - 60,063 60,063

Disposals - - (4,368) (4,368)

Balance at December 31, 2023 7,223 1,113,512 442,840 1,563,575

Additions - - 62,938 62,938

Disposals - - (19,859) (19,859)

Balance at December 31, 2024 7,223 1,113,512 485,919 1,606,654

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at December 31, 2022 - 655,024 344,563 999,587

Depreciation - 48,364 34,732 83,096

Disposals - - (4,368) (4,368)

Balance at December 31, 2023 - 703,388 374,927 1,078,315

Depreciation - 48,364 34,984 83,348

Disposals - - (19,859) (19,859)

Balance at December 31, 2024 - 751,752 390,052 1,141,804

Net book value

At December 31, 2023 7,223 410,124 67,913 485,260

At December 31, 2024 7,223 361,760 95,867 464,850

9. Line of credit

The Credit Union has an authorized line of credit due on demand, with no fixed repayment date, bearing interest at prime
minus 0.5% (4.95% at December 31, 2024), in the amount of $1,390,000 (2023 - $1,390,000) from SaskCentral. As at
December 31, 2024, $nil was advanced (2023 - $nil).

Borrowings are secured by an assignment of book debts, financial services agreement, and an operating account
agreement. 
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10. Member deposits

2024 2023

Chequing, savings, plan 24 49,045,921 48,182,642
Registered savings plans 2,738,527 2,737,892
Term deposits 22,944,588 18,181,994
Accrued interest 588,548 423,520

75,317,584 69,526,048

Member deposits are subject to the following terms:

 Chequing, savings and plan 24 products are payable on demand and bear interest at rates up to 1.50% (2023 -

1.25%).

 Registered savings plans are subject to fixed and variable rates of interest up to 4.75% (2023 - 4.75%), with interest

payments due monthly, annually or on maturity.

 Term deposits are subject to fixed and variable rates of interest up to 4.75% (2023 - 4.75%), with interest payments

due monthly, annually or on maturity.  

11. Income tax

Income tax expense recognized in comprehensive income

The applicable tax rate is the aggregate of the federal income tax rate of 9% on income under the small business limit and
15% on income greater than the small business limit (2023 - 9% and 15%) and the provincial tax rate of 1% on income
under the small business limit and 12% on income over the small business limit (2023 - 0.50% and 12%).

In August 2022, the provincial government announced changes to the small business tax rate. The small business income
tax rate remained at 1% throughout 2024 and will increase to 2% on July 1, 2025.

Reconciliation between average effective tax rate and the applicable tax rate
2024 2023

Applicable tax rate %27.00 %27.00
Small business deduction %(17.00) %(17.50)
Income not eligible for deduction %8.46 %6.75
Non-taxable and other items %(0.74) %(0.47)

Average effective tax rate (tax expense divided by profit before tax) %17.72 %15.78

12. Other liabilities

2024 2023

Accounts payable 112,390 84,138
Corporate income tax payable 42,799 78,288

155,189 162,426
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13. Membership shares

Authorized:

Unlimited number of Common shares, at an issue price of $5.
Unlimited number of Surplus shares, at an issue price of $1.

Issued:

2024 2023

1,187 Common shares (2023 - 1,147) 5,935 5,735
285,211 Surplus shares (2023 - 287,445) 285,211 287,445

291,146 293,180

All common and surplus shares are classified as liabilities.

When an individual becomes a member of the Credit Union, they are issued a common share at $5 per share. Each
member of the Credit Union has one vote, regardless of the number of common shares held.

Surplus shares are established as a means of returning excess earnings to the members and at the same time increasing
the Credit Union's equity base. The Articles of Incorporation for the Credit Union disclose the conditions concerning surplus
shares.

During the year, the Credit Union issued 82 (2023 - 68) and redeemed 42 common shares (2023 - 38), and also issued
6,399 (2023 - 8,872) and redeemed 8,633 (2023 - 13,691) surplus shares.

14. Patronage

The Credit Union declared a patronage refund payable in the amount of $180,000 on December 17, 2024 (2023 -
$100,000), to be paid by cash to the members based on lending and deposit business and as a rebate of service charges,
for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The patronage refund of $180,000 (2023 - $100,000) has been reflected in the statement of comprehensive income with
related tax savings of approximately $48,600 (2023 - $27,000) being reflected in the current year's provision for income
taxes.
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15. Related party transactions

Key management compensation of the Credit Union

Key management personnel ("KMP") of the Credit Union are the General Manager and members of the Board of Directors.
KMP remuneration includes the following expenses:

2024 2023

Salaries and short-term benefits 158,010 132,798
Other long-term benefits 10,132 8,361

168,142 141,159

Transactions with key management personnel

The Credit Union, in accordance with its policy, may grant credit to its directors, management and staff at concessional
rates of interest on their loans and facilities.

Loans made to KMP are approved under the same lending criteria applicable to members and are included in member
loans on the statement of financial position. There are no loans to KMP that are impaired.

Directors, management and staff of the Credit Union hold deposit accounts. These accounts are maintained under the
same terms and conditions as accounts of other members, and are included in deposit accounts on the statement of
financial position.

There are no benefits or concessional terms and conditions applicable to the family members of KMP. 

These loans and deposits were made in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which
is the consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

2024 2023

Aggregate loans to KMP 2,134,876 1,820,462
Aggregate revolving credit facilities to KMP 537,000 537,000
Less: approved and undrawn lines of credit (530,283) (505,749)

2,141,593 1,851,713

2024 2023

During the year the aggregate value of loans and lines of credit approved to KMP amounted to:
Mortgages 96,140 345,000
Loans 219,359 -

315,499 345,000

2024 2023
Income and expense transactions with KMP consisted of:

Interest earned on loans and revolving credit facilities to KMP 98,623 84,807
Interest paid on deposits to KMP 9,628 5,082

Page 49 of 64



Edam Credit Union Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2024

15. Related party transactions  (Continued from previous page)

2024 2023

The total value of member deposits from KMP as at the year-end:
Chequing and demand deposits 1,099,333 822,737
Term deposits 294,992 40,209
Registered plans 25,027 23,928

Total value of member deposits due to KMP 1,419,352 886,874

Directors’ fees and expenses

2024 2023

Directors' expenses 3,978 3,017
Meeting, training, and conference costs 1,697 5,128

SaskCentral

The Credit Union is a member of SaskCentral, which acts as a depository for surplus funds received from and loans made
to credit unions.

Interest and dividends earned on investments during the year ended December 31, 2024 amounted to $1,333,125 (2023 -
$939,999).

Interest paid on borrowings during the year ended December 31, 2024 amounted to $1,568 (2023 - $1,736).

Payments made for affiliation dues for the year ended December 31, 2024 amounted to $3,741 (2023 - $1,764).

16. Capital management

A capital management framework is included in policies and procedures established by the Board of Directors. The Credit
Union’s objectives when managing capital are to:

 Adhere to regulatory capital requirements as minimum benchmarks;

 Co-ordinate strategic risk management and capital management;

 Develop financial performance targets/budgets/goals;

 Administer a patronage program that is consistent with capital requirements;

 Administer an employee incentive program that is consistent with capital requirements; and

 Develop a growth strategy that is coordinated with capital management requirements. 

CUDGC prescribes capital adequacy measures and minimum capital requirements. The capital adequacy rules issued by
CUDGC have been based on the Basel III framework, consistent with the financial industry in general.

The Credit Union follows a risk-weighted asset calculation for credit and operational risk. Under this approach, credit unions
are required to measure capital adequacy in accordance with instructions for determining risk-adjusted capital and risk-
weighted assets, including off-balance sheet commitments. Based on the prescribed risk of each type of asset, a weighting
of 0% to 1,250% is assigned. The ratio of regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets is calculated and compared to the
standard outlined by  CUDGC.  Regulatory standards require credit unions to maintain a minimum total eligible capital to
risk-weighted assets of 8%, a minimum tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of 6% and a minimum common equity tier 1
capital to risk-weighted assets of 4.5%. In addition to the minimum capital ratios, the Credit Union is required to hold a
capital conservation buffer of 2.5%. The capital conservation buffer is designed to avoid breaches of the minimum capital
requirement. Eligible capital consists of total tier 1 and tier 2 capital.
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Tier 1 capital is defined as a credit union’s primary capital and comprises the highest quality of capital elements while tier 2
is secondary capital and falls short of meeting tier 1 requirements for permanence or freedom from mandatory charges. Tier
1 capital consists of two components:  common equity tier 1 capital and additional tier 1 capital.  Common equity tier 1
capital includes retained earnings, contributed surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income ("AOCI").
Deductions from common equity tier 1 capital include goodwill, intangible assets, deferred tax assets (except those arising
from temporary differences), increases in equity capital resulting from securitization transactions, unconsolidated substantial
investments and fair value gains/losses on own-use property. Additional tier 1 capital consists of qualifying membership
shares and other investment shares issued by the Credit Union that meet the criteria for inclusion in additional tier 1 capital. 

Tier 2 capital includes a collective allowance for credit losses to a maximum of 1.25% of risk-weighted assets, subordinated
indebtedness, and qualifying membership shares or other investment shares issued by the Credit Union that meet the
criteria for inclusion in tier 2 capital and are not included in tier 1 capital.

Regulatory standards also require the Credit Union to maintain a minimum leverage ratio of 5%. This ratio is calculated by
dividing eligible capital by total assets less deductions from capital plus specified off-balance sheet exposures. Based on
the type of off-balance sheet exposure, a conversion factor is applied to the leverage ratio.

The Credit Union has adopted a capital plan that conforms to the capital framework and is regularly reviewed and approved
by the Board of Directors. The following table compares CUDGC regulatory standards to the Credit Union’s board standards
for 2024:

Regulatory
standards

Board
standards

Total eligible capital to risk-weighted assets %10.50 %11.50
Total tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets %8.50 %16.00
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets %7.00 %16.00
Leverage ratio %5.00 %6.50

During the year, the Credit Union complied with all internal and external capital requirements. 

The following table summarizes key capital information: 

2024 2023
Eligible capital
Common equity tier 1 capital 9,755,893 8,908,632

Total tier 1 capital 9,755,893 8,908,632
Total tier 2 capital 427,815 400,249

Total eligible capital 10,183,708 9,308,881

Risk-weighted assets
Total eligible capital to risk-weighted assets %24.36 %25.72
Total tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets %23.33 %24.61
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets %23.33 %24.61
Leverage ratio %11.80 %11.71

17. Financial instruments

The Credit Union, as part of its operations, carries a number of financial instruments which result in exposure to the
following risks: credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk.

Accordingly, the Credit Union has established avoidance of undue concentrations of risk, hedging of risk exposures, and
requirements for collateral to mitigate credit risk as risk management objectives. In seeking to meet these objectives, the
Credit Union follows risk management policies approved by its Board of Directors.
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The Credit Union's risk management policies and procedures include the following:

 Ensure all activities are consistent with the mission, vision and values of the Credit Union

 Balance risk and return

 Manage credit, market and liquidity risk through preventative and detective controls

 Ensure credit quality is maintained

 Ensure credit, market, and liquidity risk is maintained at acceptable levels

 Diversify risk in transactions, member relationships and loan portfolios

 Price according to risk taken, and

 Use consistent credit risk exposure tools.

Various Board of Directors committees are involved in financial instrument risk management oversight, including the Audit
and Risk Committee and Conduct Review Committee.

There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the Credit Union’s risks to which it is exposed or its
general policies and procedures for managing risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from the failure of a borrower or counterparty to honour its financial or
contractual obligations to the Credit Union. Credit risk primarily arises from member loans receivable.

Risk management process

Credit risk management is integral to the Credit Union’s activities. Management and the Board of Directors are responsible
for developing and implementing the credit risk management practices of the Credit Union by establishing the relevant
policies and procedures. Management carefully monitors and manages the Credit Union’s exposure to credit risk by
reviewing member credit extension policies and guidelines and reviewing the performance of loan portfolios, including
default events and past due status. The risk management process starts at the time of a member credit application and
continues until the loan is fully repaid. The primary credit risk management policies and procedures include the following:

 Loan security (collateral) requirements

 Security valuation processes, including method used to determine the value of real property and personal

property when that property is subject to a mortgage or other charge

 Maximum loan to value ratios where a mortgage or other charge on real or personal property is taken as security

 Borrowing member capacity (repayment ability) requirements

 Borrowing member character requirements

 Limits on aggregate credit exposure per individual and/or related parties

 Limits on concentration of credit risk by loan type, industry and economic sector

 Limits on the types of credit facilities and services offered

 Internal loan approval processes and loan documentation standards

 Loan re-negotiation, extension and renewal processes

 Processes that identify adverse situations and trends, including risks associated with economic, geographic and

industry sectors

 Control and monitoring processes including portfolio risk identification and delinquency tolerances

 Timely loan analysis processes to identify, assess and manage delinquent and impaired loans

 Collection processes that include action plans for deteriorating loans

 Overdraft control and administration processes

 Loan syndication processes

The Credit Union’s credit risk policies, processes and methodologies are reviewed periodically to ensure they remain
relevant and effective in managing credit risk.
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To meet the needs of its members and to manage its own exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, the Credit Union
participates in various commitments and contingent liability contracts. The primary purpose of these contracts is to make
funds available for the financing needs of members. These are subject to normal credit standards, financial controls, risk
management and monitoring procedures. The contractual amounts of these credit instruments represents the maximum
credit risk exposure without taking into account the fair value of any collateral, in the event other parties fail to perform their
obligations under these instruments.

The Credit Union makes the following instruments available to its members:

 Guarantees and standby letters of credit representing irrevocable assurances that the Credit Union will pay if a

member cannot meet their obligations to a third party; and

 Commitments to extend credit representing unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans

(including lines of credit and credit cards), guarantees or letters of credit

The amounts shown on the table below do not necessarily represent future cash requirements since many commitments will
expire or terminate without being funded.

As at year-end, the Credit Union had the following outstanding financial instruments subject to credit risk:

2024 2023

Unadvanced lines of credit 6,621,848 7,262,053
Commitments to extend credit 213,905 570,941

6,835,753 7,832,994

Inputs, assumptions and techniques

Definition of default and assessments of credit risk

Financial instruments are assessed at each reporting date for a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
This assessment considers changes in the risk of a default occurring at the reporting date as compared to the date of initial
recognition. 

The Credit Union considers member loans receivable to be in default when contractual payments are more than 90 days
past due or other objective evidence of impairment exists, such as notification from the borrower or breach of major
covenants. This definition is consistent with the definitions used for the Credit Union’s internal credit risk management
practices and has been selected because it most closely aligns the definition of default to the Credit Union’s past credit
experience, and the covenants placed in standard borrowing contracts. Relatively few financial instruments subsequently
return to performing status after a default has occurred under this definition without further intervention on the part of the
Credit Union.

Changes in credit risk are assessed on the basis of the risk that a default will occur over the contractual lifetime of the
financial instrument rather than based on changes in the amount of expected credit losses or other factors. In making this
assessment the Credit Union takes into account all reasonable and supportable information, including forward-looking
information, available without undue cost or effort. The Credit Union considers past due information of its balances and
information about the borrower available through regular commercial dealings, such as requests for loan modifications. 

The credit risk of a financial instrument is deemed to have significantly increased since initial recognition when contractual
payments have exceeded 30 days past due, or other information becomes available to management (through the course of
regular credit reviews, communication with the borrower or forecasting processes which consider macroeconomic
conditions expected to have a future impact on borrowers). The Credit Union considers there not to have been a significant
increase in credit risk despite contractual payments being more than 30 days past due when they have interviewed the
borrower and determined that payment is forthcoming.

Page 53 of 64



Edam Credit Union Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2024

17. Financial instruments  (Continued from previous page)

The Credit Union identifies credit-impaired financial assets through regular reviews of past due balances and credit
assessments of its members. Credit-impaired financial assets are typically placed on the Credit Union's watch list based on
its internal credit risk policies. In making this assessment, the Credit Union considers past due information of its balances
and information about the borrower available through regular commercial dealings.

Measurement of expected credit losses

The Credit Union measures expected credit losses, or ECL's, for member loans receivable on a group basis. These assets
are grouped on the basis of their shared risk characteristics such as loan type (residential mortgages, commercial
loans/mortgages, agricultural loans/mortgages, personal loans and lines of credit). Otherwise, expected credit losses are
measured on an individual basis.

When measuring 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, the Credit Union utilizes complex modelling, which uses
current banking system loan data to assess probability of default, exposure at default, loss given default and present value
calculations. Forward-looking information is incorporated into the determination of expected credit loss by considering
regional economic journals and forecasts, collecting information available from regular commercial dealings with its
members and other publicly available information and considering the effect such information could have on any
assumptions or inputs used in the measurement of expected credit losses, determining significant increases in credit risk or
identifying a credit-impaired financial asset. 

Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions are required when calculating the expected credit losses of financial
assets. In measuring the 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, management makes assumptions about
prepayments, the timing and extent of missed payments or default events. In addition, management makes assumptions
and estimates about the impact that future events may have on the historical data used to measure expected credit losses.

The Credit Union has run a number of simulations on its collective allowance, incorporating assumptions about the resulting
macroeconomic impacts of inflation and interest rate changes, based on information and facts available at December 31,
2024. The macroeconomic factors that affect the Credit Union's expected credit loss calculations are: Saskatchewan
unemployment rates,  provincial housing starts, national interest rates, national GDP growth, and national oil prices. Each
factor is forecast in a base case, a best case and a worst case scenario. These scenarios are weighted, and the weighted
average is used to build the estimate for expected credit losses.  Key factors influencing assumptions of the simulations are
economic uncertainties tied to interest rate changes, continued inflationary pressures, the quality of credit, and the
borrower's future ability to service debt. The information for these assumptions is based off 2024 economic forecasts. These
assumptions were shocked up and down 10-30% in the best and worst case scenario.

The typical weighting used in the model is 80% base, 10% best and 10% worst case, as the base case is historically the
most likely scenario. Due to uncertainties around the macroeconomic environment, the weightings chosen at December 31,
2023 and December 31, 2024 were adjusted to 50% base, 10% best and 40% worst case.

Write-offs

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The Credit Union assesses that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery when the security relating to the loan has been sold and there are remaining
amounts outstanding or the borrower has filed for bankruptcy and the trustee has indicated that no additional funds will be
paid. Where information becomes available indicating the Credit Union will receive funds, such amounts are recognized at
their fair value.

Exposure to credit risk

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets assessed for impairment under IFRS 9.
The amounts in the table, unless otherwise indicated, represent the assets’ gross carrying amount.

Except as noted below, the gross carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum exposure to credit risk for
that class of financial asset.
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2024

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL
(credit

impaired) Total

Consumer loans
Low risk 3,423,558 - 3,423,558

Total gross carrying amount 3,423,558 - 3,423,558
Less: loss allowance 6,253 - 6,253

Total carrying amount 3,417,305 - 3,417,305

Residential mortgages
Low risk 23,522,836 - 23,522,836

Total gross carrying amount 23,522,836 - 23,522,836
Less: loss allowance 37,713 - 37,713

Total carrying amount 23,485,123 - 23,485,123

Commercial loans and mortgages
Low risk 6,553,432 - 6,553,432

Total gross carrying amount 6,553,432 - 6,553,432
Less: loss allowance 57,185 - 57,185

Total carrying amount 6,496,247 - 6,496,247

Agricultural loans and mortgages
Low risk 14,499,115 - 14,499,115

Total gross carrying amount 14,499,115 - 14,499,115
Less: loss allowance 27,294 - 27,294

Total carrying amount 14,471,821 - 14,471,821

Lines of credit
Low risk 1,026,500 - 1,026,500

Total gross carrying amount 1,026,500 - 1,026,500
Less: loss allowance 8,224 - 8,224

Total carrying amount 1,018,276 - 1,018,276

Total
Low risk 49,025,441 - 49,025,441

Total gross carrying amount 49,025,441 - 49,025,441
Less: loss allowance 136,669 - 136,669

Total carrying amount 48,888,772 - 48,888,772
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2023

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL
(credit

impaired) Total

Consumer loans
Low risk 3,658,432 - 3,658,432

Total gross carrying amount 3,658,432 - 3,658,432
Less: loss allowance 5,965 - 5,965

Total carrying amount 3,652,467 - 3,652,467

Residential mortgages
Low risk 22,653,697 - 22,653,697

Total gross carrying amount 22,653,697 - 22,653,697
Less: loss allowance 33,368 - 33,368

Total carrying amount 22,620,329 - 22,620,329

Commercial loans and mortgages
Low risk 4,374,337 - 4,374,337
Default - 141,095 141,095

Total gross carrying amount 4,374,337 141,095 4,515,432
Less: loss allowance 32,863 53,970 86,833

Total carrying amount 4,341,474 87,125 4,428,599

Agriculture loans and mortgages
Low risk 14,436,390 - 14,436,390

Total gross carrying amount 14,436,390 - 14,436,390
Less: loss allowance 25,405 - 25,405

Total carrying amount 14,410,985 - 14,410,985

Lines of credit
Low risk 1,429,088 - 1,429,088

Total gross carrying amount 1,429,088 - 1,429,088
Less: loss allowance 9,468 - 9,468

Total carrying amount 1,419,620 - 1,419,620

Total
Low risk 46,551,944 - 46,551,944
Default - 141,095 141,095

Total gross carrying amount 46,551,944 141,095 46,693,039
Less: loss allowance 107,069 53,970 161,039

Total carrying amount 46,444,875 87,125 46,532,000
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Concentrations of credit risk

Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of borrowers are exposed to similar economic risks by being engaged in
similar economic activities or being located in the same geographical region, and indicate the relative sensitivity of the
Credit Union's performance to developments affecting a particular segment of borrowers or geographical region.
Geographical risk exists for the Credit Union due to its primary service area being Edam, Saskatchewan and surrounding
areas.

Amounts arising from expected credit losses

Reconciliation of the loss allowance

The following tables show a reconciliation of the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by class of financial
instrument.

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL
(credit

impaired) Total

Consumer loans
Balance at January 1, 2023 7,908 - 7,908
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (1,943) - (1,943)

Balance at December 31, 2023 5,965 - 5,965
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 288 - 288

Balance at December 31, 2024 6,253 - 6,253

Residential mortgages
Balance at January 1, 2023 32,855 - 32,855
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 513 - 513

Balance at December 31, 2023 33,368 - 33,368
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 4,345 - 4,345

Balance at December 31, 2024 37,713 - 37,713

Commercial loans and mortgages
Balance at January 1, 2023 35,634 - 35,634
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (2,771) 53,970 51,199

Balance at December 31, 2023 32,863 53,970 86,833
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 24,322 (53,970) (29,648)

Balance at December 31, 2024 57,185 - 57,185

Agricultural loans and mortgages
Balance at January 1, 2023 42,435 - 42,435
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (17,030) - (17,030)

Balance at December 31, 2023 25,405 - 25,405
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 1,889 - 1,889

Balance at December 31, 2024 27,294 - 27,294
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Lines of credit
Balance at January 1, 2023 - - -
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 9,468 - 9,468

Balance at December 31, 2023 9,468 - 9,468
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (1,244) - (1,244)

Balance at December 31, 2024 8,224 - 8,224

Total
Balance at January 1, 2023 118,832 - 118,832
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (11,763) 53,970 42,207

Balance at December 31, 2023 107,069 53,970 161,039
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 29,600 (53,970) (24,370)

Balance at December 31, 2024 136,669 - 136,669

Financial instruments for which the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 do not apply

The carrying amount of SaskCentral and Concentra Bank shares, as disclosed in Note 5, best represents the Credit Union's
maximum exposure to credit risk for those items. The Credit Union holds no collateral or other credit enhancements for
these balances.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss in value of financial instruments that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest
rates, equity prices and credit spreads. The Credit Union's exposure changes depending on market conditions. Market risks
that have a significant impact on the Credit Union include fair value risk and interest rate risk.

Market risk arises from changes in interest rates that affect the Credit Union's net interest income. Exposure to this risk
directly impacts the Credit Union's income from its loan and deposit portfolios. The Credit Union's objective is to earn an
acceptable net return on these portfolios, without taking unreasonable risk, while meeting member needs. 

Risk measurement

The Credit Union's risk position is measured and monitored each month to ensure compliance with policy. Management
provides quarterly reports on these matters to the Credit Union's Board of Directors.

Objectives, policies and processes

Management is responsible for managing the Credit Union's interest rate risk, monitoring approved limits and compliance
with policies. The Credit Union manages market risk by developing and implementing asset and liability management
policies, which are approved and periodically reviewed by the Board of Directors.

The Credit Union's goal is to achieve adequate levels of profitability, liquidity and safety. The Board of Directors reviews the
Credit Union's investment and asset-liability management policies periodically to ensure they remain relevant and effective
in managing and controlling risk. 

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL
(credit

impaired) Total
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Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of the Credit Union’s financial condition to movements in interest rates. Cash flow interest
rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of the Credit Union’s financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in
market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in prevailing market interest rates. Interest margins reported in comprehensive income may increase or decrease
in response to changes in market interest rates. The Credit Union incurs interest rate risk on its loans and other interest
bearing financial instruments. 

In managing interest rate risk, the Credit Union relies primarily upon use of asset - liability and interest rate sensitivity
simulation models, which is monitored by the Credit Union. Periodically, the Credit Union may enter into interest rate swaps
to adjust the exposure to interest rate risk by modifying the repricing of the Credit Union’s financial instruments. 

Sensitivity analysis is used to assess the change in value of the Credit Union’s financial instruments against a range of
incremental basis point changes in interest rates over a twelve month period. Interest rate shock analysis is calculated in a
similar manner to sensitivity analysis but involves a more significant change of 100 basis points or greater in interest rates.
Sensitivity analysis and interest rate shock analysis are calculated on a quarterly basis and are reported to the Board of
Directors. Based on current differences between financial assets and financial liabilities as at year-end, the Credit Union
estimates that an immediate and sustained 100 basis point increase in interest rates would decrease net interest margin by
$144,963 (2023 - decrease of $66,637) over the next 12 months while an immediate and sustained 100 basis point
decrease in interest rates would increase net interest margin by $144,963 (2023 - increase of $66,637) over the next 12
months.

Other types of interest rate risk are basis risk (the risk of loss arising from changes in the relationship of interest rates which
have similar but not identical characteristic; for example, the difference between prime rates and the Canadian Deposit
Offering Rate) and prepayment risk (the risk of loss of interest income arising from the early repayment of fixed rate
mortgages and loans), both of which are monitored on a regular basis and are reported to the Board of Directors.

The Credit Union's major source of income is financial margin which is the difference between interest earned on
investments and loans to members and interest paid to members on their deposits. The objective of managing the financial
margin is to match repricing or maturity dates of loans and investments and member deposits within policy limits. These
limits are intended to limit the Credit Union's exposure to changing interest rates and to wide fluctuations of income during
periods of changing interest rates. The differential represents the net mismatch between loans and investments and
member deposits for those particular maturity dates. Certain items on the statement of financial position, such as non-
interest bearing member deposits and equity do not provide interest rate exposure to the Credit Union. These items are
reported as non-interest rate sensitive in the table below.

Amounts with variable interest rates, or due on demand, are classified as on demand.

A significant amount of member loans receivable and member deposits can be settled before maturity on payment of a
penalty. No adjustment has been made for repayments that may occur prior to maturity.

Interest rate sensitivity

In the table below, the carrying amounts of financial instruments are presented in the periods in which they next reprice to
market rates or mature and are summed to show the net interest rate sensitivity gap.

Contractual repricing and maturity

All financial instruments are reported in the schedule below based on the earlier of their contractual repricing date or
maturity date. The schedule below does not identify management's expectations of future events where repricing and
maturity dates differ from contractual dates.
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(In thousands)

2024 2023

On demand
Within 3
months

Over 3
months to 1

year Over 1 year
Non-interest

sensitive Total Total

Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents 9,965 - - - 1,531 11,496 5,927

Average yield % 2.31 - - - - 2.00 3.89
Investments - 4,000 13,721 6,020 437 24,178 25,598

Average yield % - 3.26 5.13 2.99 - 4.19 4.11
Member loans
receivable 10,899 1,129 3,445 33,553 233 49,259 46,760

Average yield % 6.43 6.15 5.35 5.51 - 5.69 5.54
Accounts receivable - - - - 36 36 43

20,864 5,129 17,166 39,573 2,237 84,969 78,328

Liabilities
Member deposits 32,766 9,474 12,644 3,550 16,884 75,318 69,526

Average yield % 1.21 3.71 4.81 3.74 - 1.98 1.49
Accounts payable - - - - 112 112 84
Membership shares - - - - 291 291 293

32,766 9,474 12,644 3,550 17,287 75,721 69,903

Net sensitivity (11,902) (4,345) 4,522 36,023 (15,050) 9,248 8,425

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union cannot meet a demand for cash or fund its obligations as they come due. The
Credit Union's management oversees the Credit Union's liquidity risk to ensure the Credit Union has access to enough
readily available funds to cover its financial obligations as they come due. The Credit Union's business requires such
liquidity for operating and regulatory purposes. Refer to Note 5  for further information about the Credit Union's regulatory
requirements.

As at December 31, 2024, one (2023 - one) member holds approximately 19.53% (2023 - 20.24%) of the Credit Union's
total deposits. The Credit Union believes that there is no unusual exposure associated with this deposit concentration. This
risk is mitigated by the remainder of deposits being spread across many members.

Liquidity risk is managed through a three tiered structure consisting of the local Credit Union level, the provincial Credit
Union level and the national Credit Union level.

Locally, the Credit Union manages its liquidity position from three perspectives:

 Structural liquidity risk, which addresses the risk due to mismatches in effective maturities between assets and

liabilities, more specifically the risk of over reliance on short-term liabilities to fund long-term illiquid assets;

 Tactical liquidity risk, which addresses the day-to-day funding requirements that are managed by imposing prudential

limits on net fund outflows;

 Contingent liquidity risk, which assess the impact of sudden stressful events and the Credit Union’s responses thereto.
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The primary liquidity risk policies and procedures include the following:

 Liquidity risk management framework to measure and control liquidity risk exposure;

 Measurement of cashflows;

 Maintain a line of credit and borrowing facility with SaskCentral;

 Maintenance of a pool of high quality liquid assets;

 Monitoring of single deposits and sources of deposits;

 Monitoring of term deposits; and

 Contingency planning.

Provincially, SaskCentral manages a statutory liquidity pool of marketable investment securities on behalf of Saskatchewan
Credit Unions to facilitate clearing and settlement, daily cash flow management and emergency liquidity support. Nationally,
credit union centrals are represented by one central which acts as the Group Clearer, Central 1 Credit Union. The Group
Clearer is a member of the Canadian Payments Association and pools provincial cash flows to settle with the Bank of
Canada.

The following table details contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

As at December 31, 2024:
(In thousands)

< 1 year 1-2 years > 2 years Total

Member deposits 71,768 1,407 2,143 75,318
Accounts payable 112 - - 112
Membership shares - - 291 291

71,880 1,407 2,434 75,721

As at December 31, 2023:
(In thousands)

< 1 year 1-2 years > 2 years Total

Member deposits 65,004 2,351 2,171 69,526
Accounts payable 84 - - 84
Membership shares - - 293 293

65,088 2,351 2,464 69,903

The Credit Union manages liquidity risk on a net asset and liability basis. The following tables explain the contractual
maturities of financial assets held for the purpose of managing liquidity risk.

As at December 31, 2024:
(In thousands)

< 1 year 1-2 years > 2 years Total

Cash and cash equivalents 11,496 - - 11,496
Investments 18,158 4,020 2,000 24,178
Member loans receivable 15,706 11,437 22,116 49,259
Accounts receivable 36 - - 36

45,396 15,457 24,116 84,969
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As at December 31, 2023:

(In thousands)

< 1 year 1-2 years > 2 years Total

Cash and cash equivalents 5,927 - - 5,927
Investments 9,982 13,616 2,000 25,598
Member loans receivable 15,466 3,899 27,395 46,760
Accounts receivable 43 - - 43

31,418 17,515 29,395 78,328

18. Fair value measurements 

The Credit Union classifies fair value measurements recognized in the statement of financial position using a three-tier fair
value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

 Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

 Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or

indirectly

 Level 3: Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data and which require the Credit Union to develop

its own assumptions

Fair value measurements are classified in the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is assessed to be
significant to that fair value measurement. This assessment requires the use of judgment in considering factors specific to
an asset or a liability and may affect the placement of the fair value measurement within the hierarchy.

The Credit Union considers a fair value measurement to have transferred between the levels in the fair value hierarchy on
the beginning of the reporting period, the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, as well as no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

In determining fair value measurements, the Credit Union uses net present value valuation techniques and inputs consisting
of actual balances, actual rates, market rates (for similar instruments) and payment frequency.

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value

The Credit Union’s financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position on a
recurring basis have been categorized into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

2024
(In thousands) Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets

Cash 1,531 1,531 - -
SaskCentral shares 189 - - 189
Other equity instruments 20 - - 20

1,740 1,531 - 209
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2023
(In thousands) Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets

Cash 1,330 1,330 - -
SaskCentral and Concentra Bank shares 1,227 - - 1,227
Other equity instruments 20 - - 20

2,577 1,330 - 1,247

For fair value measurements of Level 3 SaskCentral and Concentra Bank shares, the Credit Union has assumed that the
fair value of the amounts is comparable to their amortized cost, which equals the par value of the shares. The shares are
not quoted or traded, however when new shares are offered the price remains the same as the par value of all currently
available shares.  There was no impact of the measurement on profit or loss for the year.

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The carrying amount, fair value, and categorization into the fair value hierarchy of all other financial assets and financial
liabilities held by the Credit Union and not measured at fair value on the statement of financial position are as follows: 

2024

(In thousands)

Carrying
amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at
amortized cost

Cash equivalents 9,965 9,965 9,965 - -
Investments 23,969 24,302 - 24,302 -
Member loans receivable 49,259 49,995 - 49,995 -
Accounts receivable 36 36 - 36 -

83,229 84,298 9,965 74,333 -

Financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost

Member deposits 75,318 75,509 - 75,509 -
Accounts payable 112 112 - 112 -
Membership shares 291 291 - - 291

75,721 75,912 - 75,621 291

2023

(In thousands)

Carrying
amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at
amortized cost

Cash equivalents 4,597 4,597 4,597 - -
Investments 24,351 24,361 - 24,361 -
Member loans receivable 46,760 45,512 - 45,512 -
Accounts receivable 43 43 - 43 -

75,751 74,513 4,597 69,916 -
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2023

(In thousands)

Carrying
amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost

Member deposits 69,526 69,471 - 69,471 -
Accounts payable 84 84 - 84 -
Membership shares 293 293 - - 293

69,903 69,848 - 69,555 293

Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements for financial instruments not measured at fair value

Valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows:

All Level 2 fair value measurements use a net present value valuation technique and inputs consisting of actual balances,
actual rates, market rates (for similar instruments) and payment frequency.  

As there is no observable market data for all fair values disclosed and categorized within Level 3 of the hierarchy, the Credit
Union has assumed that the fair value of the amounts is comparable to their amortized cost.  

19. Commitments

In 2016, the Credit Union entered into a seven year commitment with CGI (previously Celero) for the provision of retail
banking services. In 2024, the agreement was extended to July 3, 2029. The annual operating fee is calculated based on
the average number of outstanding accounts throughout the year. The annual operating fees for the year ended December
31, 2024 were $54,945 (2023 - $52,531) and recorded as an expense. The annual estimated fee for the year ended
December 31, 2025 is $56,744 (2024 - $54,945).
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